No. 44726-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Jeffrey Weller,**

Appellant.

---

Clark County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-01678-1

The Honorable Judge Barbara Johnson

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Skylar T. Brett  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Mr. Weller's unlawful imprisonment conviction violated his Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to notice of the charges against him.
2. Mr. Weller's unlawful imprisonment conviction violated his state constitutional right to notice of the charges against him, under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22.
3. The Information was deficient because it failed to allege the essential elements of unlawful imprisonment.

**ISSUE 1:** A criminal Information must set forth all of the essential elements of an offense. The Information charged Mr. Weller with unlawful imprisonment, alleging only that he knowingly restrained another person. Did the Information omit essential elements of the offense in violation of Mr. Weller's right to adequate notice under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, § 22?

4. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Weller's motion to suppress.
5. The convictions were based in part on evidence illegally obtained in violation of Mr. Weller's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment and his right to privacy under Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.
6. The trial court erred by finding that "community caretaking" justified the warrantless search.
7. The trial court applied the wrong legal standard in rejecting Mr. Weller's motion to suppress.

**ISSUE 2:** The state and federal constitutions prohibit searches under the "community caretaking" exception to the warrant requirement unless six criteria are met. Here the state failed to establish that officers had a reasonable belief that the children were at imminent risk of substantial injury, or that officers had a reasonable basis to associate any need for assistance with Mr. Weller's garage. Should the trial judge have excluded evidence seized in violation of Mr. Weller's rights under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 7?



8. Mr. Weller was convicted through the operation of a statute that is unconstitutionally overbroad.
9. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on “words” or “encouragement” spoken with knowledge but without intent to promote or facilitate a crime.
10. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on “words” or “encouragement” even absent proof that the speech is likely to incite imminent lawless action.
11. The trial judge erred by giving Instruction No. 7, which defined accomplice liability to include mere advocacy, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

**ISSUE 3:** A statute is unconstitutional if it criminalizes speech without proof that the speaker intended to incite crime. The accomplice liability statute criminalizes speech made with knowledge that it will facilitate or promote commission of a crime, even if the speaker lacked the intent to incite imminent lawless action, and even if the speech was unlikely to incite imminent lawless action. Is the accomplice liability statute unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments?

12. Mr. Weller’s exceptional sentence infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the court’s instructions relieved the state of its obligation to prove essential elements of each aggravating factor.
13. The court’s instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
14. The trial court erred by failing to instruct jurors regarding the state’s obligation to prove that Mr. Weller acted as a principal, for purposes of the special verdict forms.
15. The special verdict form did not reflect a jury finding that Mr. Weller acted as a principal as to each offense.

**ISSUE 3:** A court may only impose an exceptional sentence if jurors find all essential elements of the aggravating factor upon which the sentence is based. Here, the court’s instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove that Mr. Weller acted

as a principal with regard to each offense, and the special verdict did not reflect a jury finding on that issue. Must Mr. Weller's sentence be vacated and the case remanded for sentencing within the standard range?

16. The trial court infringed Mr. Weller's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial by imposing an exceptional sentence based on judicial factfinding.
17. The trial court infringed Mr. Weller's Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt by imposing an exceptional sentence based on judicial factfinding.
18. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 2.4. CP 40.
19. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 3. CP 40.
20. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 4. CP 41.
21. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 5. CP 41.
22. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 6. CP 41.
23. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 7. CP 41.
24. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 8. CP 41.
25. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 9. CP 41.
26. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 10. CP 41.
27. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 11. CP 41.
28. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 12. CP 41.
29. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 13. CP 41.
30. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 14. CP 41.
31. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 15. CP 42.
32. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 16. CP 42.

33. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 17. CP 42.
34. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 18. CP 42.
35. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 19. CP 42.

**ISSUE 5:** A sentencing court may not rely on judicial factfinding to impose an exceptional sentence. Here, the trial court imposed an exceptional sentence based in part on judicial factfinding. Did the trial court infringe Mr. Weller's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial and to proof beyond a reasonable doubt by imposing an exceptional sentence based in part on judicial factfinding?

36. Pursuant to RAP 10.1, Mr. Weller adopts and incorporates the assignments of error set forth in Ms. Weller's Opening Brief.

**ISSUE 7:** Pursuant to RAP 10.1, Mr. Weller adopts and incorporates the issues set forth in Ms. Weller's Opening Brief.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**<sup>1</sup>

Jeffrey and Sandra Weller lived with their blended family in Clark County. As of the summer of 2011, this included six children. Their oldest children, twins C.W. and C.G.<sup>2</sup>, were 16. They had been adopted by Sandra Weller and Timothy Graf. They resided with Ms. Weller after she and Graf separated. RP 806-809, 811.

Mr. Weller brought two biological sons to the relationship. I.W. was fifteen, and E.W. was twelve. RP 719-720; RP 1224. Ms. Weller's biological son N.G. was ten. RP 1156-1157. E.W. was four years old, and he was the biological child of both Mr. and Ms. Weller. RP1488.

There were ongoing issues regarding legal custody of the children. A court had recently awarded custody of I.W. and E.W. to Mr. Weller.<sup>3</sup> RP 1283-1288. Neither I.W. nor E.W. wanted to reside with their father. They made this known, but nothing came of their complaints. RP 1243-1244. Social workers and guardians *ad litem* made multiple home visits

---

<sup>1</sup> Pursuant to RAP 10.1, Mr. Weller also adopts and incorporates the Statement of the Case set forth in Ms. Weller's Opening Brief.

<sup>2</sup> This brief refers to the children by the initials of the last names they used for themselves during trial. For the twins, this means that C.W. is the son, and C.G. is the daughter. RP 806, 1101.

<sup>3</sup> When Ms. Weller and Mr. Graf separated, it was likewise acrimonious. RP 1586-1595.

leading up to the court decision awarding Mr. Weller custody in the summer of 2011. RP 1284-1288.

The twins, C.W. and C.G., attended counseling for years. RP 851-852. In October of 2011, they left their counselor a note. In the note, they alleged for the first time that Mr. and Ms. Weller had subjected them to horrific abuse. Ex. 51. The counselor called child protective services. A social worker made a home visit. Later that same day, police and social workers went to the Weller home for a “welfare check.” RP 580-581.

Officers Aldridge and Jensen arrived at the Weller house in response to the request from CPS. RP 65-66, 144. They knocked and spoke briefly to Ms. Weller. When the officers arrived, they twins stood inside, just behind Ms. Weller. Ms. Weller stepped aside and gestured toward the twins. She did not expressly invite the officers inside. The officers entered the house. RO 70-71, 151.

Once inside, the officers took the twins into the garage, to talk to them away from the rest of the family. RP 91, 165-67. They did not obtain permission from either parent to enter the garage. RP 157-159. Once inside the garage, Chris and Christa did not focus on the conversation. Instead, they looked around for a “stick.” RP 169-70. They claimed their parents used this stick to abuse them. RP 159-162, 166.

Aldridge helped the twins look for the stick. She saw a piece of light-colored “debris wood” leaning against the wall next to a filing cabinet. RP 170. She asked the twins whether it was the stick they were looking for. RP 170-71. They said that it was. RP 170-71. Until the children identified the stick, the officers did not know whether or not it was significant. RP 174. Officer Jensen then grabbed the stick. When he moved it, he and Aldridge were able to see that it appeared to have blood on it. Jensen wrapped the stick in paper and placed it into evidence. RP 94, 172, 175.

The police removed the children from the home, CPS placed them with their respective other parents. The children visited each other. RP 720-722, 774. After talking with the children, the state filed multiple charges against the Wellers. Specifically, Mr. Weller was charged with: three counts of second-degree assault against C.G., two counts of second-degree assault against C.W., two counts of third-degree assault (with an alleged victim of C.G.), two counts of third-degree assault (alleged victim C.W.), one count of third-degree assault (alleged victim I.W.), two counts of assault of a child in the third degree (one each: N.W. and E.W.), and two counts of simple assault (one each: E.W. and N.W.). The state also charged two counts of unlawful imprisonment (one for C.G. and one for C.W.). The Information alleged that both codefendants “knowingly

restrained [C.G], a human being.” Each count also carried two aggravators: deliberate cruelty and domestic violence with a pattern of ongoing abuse. CP 1-9.

Mr. Weller moved to suppress the stick based on the warrantless search of his garage. CP 79-86; RP 134-35. The court denied his motion, ruling that the seizure of the stick was justified under the “community caretaking” exception to the warrant requirement. The court also relied on the “plain view” doctrine. RP 289-90.

At trial, five of the children testified. RP 718-910, 1011-1100, 1156-1212, 1223-1260. The stick was admitted, along with expert testimony that C.W.’s blood and Mr. Weller’s DNA were found on it. RP 1123-1149. Mr. and Ms. Weller also testified, and denied the allegations. RP 1273-1368, 1374-1444.

The court instructed the jury regarding accomplice liability:

A person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he or she is legally accountable. A person is legally accountable for the conduct of another when he or she in an accomplice of such other person in the commission of the crime.

A person is an accomplice in the commission of a crime if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she either:

- (1) solicits, commands, encourages, or requests another person to commit the crime, or
- (2) aids or agrees to aid another person in planning or committing the crime.

The word “aid” means all assistance whether given by words, acts, encouragement, support, or presence. A person who is present at the scene and ready to assist by his or her presence is aiding in the commission of the crime. However, more than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal activity of another must be shown to establish that a person present is an accomplice.

A person who is an accomplice in the commission of a crime is guilty of that crime whether present at the scene or not. CP 113.

The aggravating factor instructions read as follows:

If you find the defendant guilty of any of the crimes charged in Counts 1 through 14, then you must determine if any of the following aggravating circumstances exists:

- Whether the defendant’s conduct during the commission of the crime manifested deliberate cruelty to the victim
- Whether the current offense involved domestic violence and was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological or physical abuse of the victim manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time

“Deliberate cruelty” means gratuitous violence or other conduct which inflicts physical, psychological, or emotional pain as an end in itself, and which goes beyond what is inherent in the elements of the crime or is normally associated with the commission of the crime.

An “ongoing pattern of psychological or physical abuse” means multiple incidents of abuse over a prolonged period of time. The term “prolonged period of time” means more than a few weeks.

CP 149.

The special verdict forms regarding each aggravating factor included the following language:

(1) QUESTION: Did the defendant’s conduct during the commission of the crime manifest deliberate cruelty to the victim?

ANSWER: Yes



(2) QUESTION: Were JEFFREY WAYNE WELLER and [C.G. or C.W] members of the same household or family?

ANSWER: Yes

(3) Was the crime part of an ongoing pattern of psychological or physical abuse of the victim manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time?

ANSWER: Yes

CP 151, 153, 155, 157, 159, 161, 165, 167, 169, 171, 173.

The jury convicted Mr. Weller of two counts of simple assault, five counts of second-degree assault, one count of unlawful imprisonment and one count of third-degree assault of a child. The jury endorsed both aggravating factors on each conviction. CP 150-177.

Mr. Weller had no criminal history. He had a standard range of 63-84 months for his most serious convictions. CP 20-39. The court imposed an exceptional sentence totaling 240 months. RP 1614. The court made lengthy factual findings in support of the exceptional sentence. CP 10-19.

Mr. Weller timely appealed. CP 44.

## ARGUMENT

**I. MR. WELLER’S CONVICTION FOR UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO ADEQUATE NOTICE UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND WASH. CONST. ART. I, § 22.**

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional questions are reviewed *de novo*. *McDevitt v. Harbor View Med. Ctr.*, 85367-3, 2013 WL 6022156 (Wash. Nov. 14, 2013). A challenge to the constitutional sufficiency of a charging document may be raised at any time. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). Where the Information is challenged after verdict, the reviewing court construes the document liberally. *Id.*, at 105. The test is whether the necessary facts appear or can be found by fair construction in the charging document. *Id.*, at 105-106. If the Information is deficient, prejudice is presumed and reversal is required. *State v. Courneya*, 132 Wn. App. 347, 351 n. 2, 131 P.3d 343 (2006); *State v. McCarty*, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000).

B. The Information failed to allege the essential elements of unlawful imprisonment.

The Sixth Amendment to the Federal Constitution guarantees an accused person the right “to be informed of the nature and cause of the

accusation.” U.S. Const. Amend. VI.<sup>4</sup> A similar right is secured by the Washington State Constitution. Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. All essential elements must be included in the charging document. *State v. Johnson*, 119 Wn.2d 143, 147, 829 P.2d 1078 (1992).

Here, Mr. Weller was charged with unlawful imprisonment under RCW 9A.40.040. The statute provides that “[a] person is guilty of unlawful imprisonment if he or she knowingly restrains another person.” RCW 9A.40.040.<sup>5</sup> By itself, this language does not describe a crime. *State v. Johnson*, 172 Wn. App. 112, 138, 297 P.3d 710 (2012), as modified on denial of reconsideration (Feb. 13, 2013), *review granted in part*, 178 Wn.2d 1001, 308 P.3d 642 (2013) (Johnson II). A person may lawfully restrain another under many circumstances: a parent may restrain a child, a police officer may restrain an arrestee, a store owner may restrain a shoplifter.

Accordingly, the Information must do more than allege ‘knowing restraint’ of another. *Id.* A charging document which alleges only

---

<sup>4</sup> This right is guaranteed to people accused in state court, through the action of the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *Cole v. Arkansas*, 333 U.S. 196, 201, 68 S.Ct. 514, 92 L.Ed. 644 (1948).

<sup>5</sup> “‘Restrain’ means to restrict a person’s movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner which interferes substantially with his or her liberty. Restraint is “without consent” if it is accomplished by (a) physical force, intimidation, or deception, or (b) any means including acquiescence of the victim, if he or she is a child less than sixteen years old or an incompetent person and if the parent, guardian, or other person or institution having lawful control or custody of him or her has not acquiesced.” RCW 9A.40.010(6).

‘knowing restraint’ does not provide adequate notice of the essential elements, and does not charge a crime. *Id.*

The Information in this case charged only that Mr. Weller “knowingly restrain[ed]” another. CP 3-5. It suffered the same defect outlined in *Johnson*.<sup>6</sup> Accordingly, Mr. Weller’s conviction for unlawful imprisonment must be reversed. *Id.* The charge must be dismissed without prejudice. *Id.*

**II. THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF MR. WELLER’S GARAGE VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND ART. I, § 7.**

**A. Standard of Review.**

The validity of a warrantless search is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Westvang*, 174 Wn. App. 913, 918, 301 P.3d 64 (2013). A trial court’s findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence; conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Id.* In the absence of a finding on a factual issue, an appellate court presumes that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain its burden on the issue. *Yakima Police Patrolmen's Ass'n v. City of Yakima*, 153 Wn. App. 541, 562, 222 P.3d 1217 (2009).

---

<sup>6</sup> In a split decision, another panel of Division I has since repudiated *Johnson*. *State v. Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. 494, 545, 299 P.3d 37 (2013) (citing *State v. Allen*, 176 Wn.2d 611, 294 P.3d 679 (2013), as amended (Feb. 8, 2013)). The Supreme Court has accepted review of the issue. *Johnson II*, 178 Wn.2d 1001. The outcome in this case will turn on the Supreme Court’s decision in *Johnson*.

B. No exception to the warrant requirement justifies the warrantless search of Mr. Weller's garage.

Both the Fourth Amendment and art. I, § 7 prohibit searches and seizures without a search warrant. *Westvang*, 301 P.3d at 68; U.S. Const Amends. IV; XIV; art. I, § 7. This "blanket prohibition against warrantless searches is subject to a few well guarded exceptions..." *Id.* When police have ample opportunity to obtain a warrant, courts do not look kindly on their failure to do so. *State v. White*, 141 Wn. App. 128, 135, 168 P.3d 459 (2007) (internal citation omitted).

The state bears the heavy burden of showing that a search falls within one of the narrowly drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Westvang*, 301 P.3d at 68. Before evidence seized without a warrant can be admitted at trial, the state must establish an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009).

Unlike the Fourth Amendment, art. I, § 7 focuses on individual rights and the expectation of privacy, not the reasonableness of police conduct. *State v. Monaghan*, 165 Wn. App. 782, 787, 266 P.3d 222 (2012). Thus, under the state constitution, a warrantless search presumptively violates the state constitution whether reasonable or not.

*Id.* Good faith on the part of the officers is not enough to satisfy art. I, § 7. *State v. Schultz*, 170 Wn.2d 746, 760, 248 P.3d 484 (2011).

The state constitution grants special protection to the home. *Schultz*, 170 Wn.2d at 753. “[T]he closer officers come to intrusion into a dwelling, the greater the constitutional protection.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d 103, 112, 960 P.2d 927 (1998)).

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