### NO. 44726-6-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

# JEFFREY WAYNE WELLER and SANDRA DOREEN WELLER, Appellants

# FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 11-1-01678-1 and 11-1-01679-0

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

# **

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

### C. ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE CrR 3.6 MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

In this consolidated appeal, both defendants challenge the trial court's ruling denying their CrR 3.6 motion to suppress. Sandra Weller does not join in the issues raised by Jeffrey Weller, but Jeffrey Weller joins in the issues raised by Sandra. The State will address the joint issues first.

a. The failure to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law on the CrR 3.6 hearing is harmless.

Both defendants argue that the trial court erred in failing to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law on the CrR 3.6 hearing. They do not argue that they have been thwarted in raising their suppression assignments of error as a result of the failure to enter findings and conclusions, nor do they argue that remand is necessary to enable them to better develop their arguments. Rather, they argue that they should be awarded reversal of the trial court's ruling and suppression of the stick, as well as a new trial on *all counts*, not just the four in which the stick

formed the basis of the charge. The State disagrees. While the failure to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law on a CrR 3.6 hearing is error, such error is harmless where the trial court's oral findings and conclusions are sufficient to permit appellate review." State v. Riley, 69 Wn.App. 349, 353, 848 P.2d 1288 (1993); State v. Hos, 154 Wn.App. 238, 245, 225 P.3d 389 (2010). In this case, the error is harmless. The sole basis for suppression argued below was that the officers' lawful entry into the home to render emergency aid at some point, prior to the discovery of the stick, morphed into a criminal investigation. The defendants abandoned and waived their claim that the initial entry into the home was unlawful, arguing instead that the welfare investigation morphed into a criminal investigation prior to the stick's discovery in the garage. Likewise, they did not seek suppression of any piece of evidence but the stick. The court's oral findings and conclusions are more than sufficient to review this discrete issue on appeal--the only issue that has been preserved. This Court should not reverse the defendants' convictions, most of which had nothing to do the with beatings with the stick, to slap the wrist of the State. The error is harmless.

Assignments of error not preserved for review
 As noted above, each defendant filed a written motion to suppress.
 CP 79-86 (Jeffrey Weller) and CP 41 (Sandra Weller). Sandra Weller, in

her written motion, merely joined Jeffrey Weller's motion. CP 41. Jeffrey Weller argued in his written motion that the initial entry into the home was unlawful under *State v. Schultz*, 170 Wn.2d 746, 248 P.3d 484 (2011). However, while presenting argument to the trial court at the CrR 3.6 hearing, counsel abandoned that argument and conceded that the initial entry into the home was proper. RP 232-233. Counsel for Jeffrey Weller said:

And I think, probably, even though there is no case that is directly on point saying a welfare check is an emergency, I think that we can assume that a welfare check is an emergency, given that it is the welfare of the kids.

So, they went in. Do I believe they went in solely for the purpose of determining whether or not the kids were safe? Yeah, I think they did initially.

The issue becomes whether or not, at some point, they have to stop.

RP 232-33.

Sandra Weller likewise abandoned her claim that the initial entry into the home was unlawful, challenging only the officers entry into the garage. RP 238.

Thus, the current claim that the initial entry into the home was unlawful was waived below. Both defendants induced the trial court *not* to engage in an analysis, or make legal conclusions, about whether the initial

entry into the home was lawful under *State v. Shultz*, supra. Indeed, neither defense attorney even mentioned *Schultz* during their oral argument on the motion to the court. Thus, to obtain review of this waived claim, the Wellers must show that the claim is reviewable under RAP 2.5 (a), or that they were denied effective assistance of counsel when their attorneys chose to waive this claim. They make neither of these showings.

Generally, appellate courts will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). But if there is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right, it can be raised for the first time on appeal. RP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686-87, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); State v. Lynn, 67 Wn.App. 339, 342, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). Not every constitutional error can be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). To raise it for the first time on appeal, it must be a "manifest" error. Id (citing State v. Scott, supra at 688). To show an error is manifest, actual prejudice must be shown. Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 688; Lynn, 67 Wn.App. at 346.

When a defendant raises a suppression issue for the first time on appeal, he must show the trial court likely would have granted the motion if it was made. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333-34. It is not enough that a defendant allege prejudice, he must show actual prejudice from the record. *Id.* at 334.

As noted here and below, the Wellers did not move to suppress the stick on several of the bases they now allege require suppression, or specifically waived the claim. The trial court was denied the opportunity to rule upon the questions this Court is now being asked to review. The Wellers cannot show actual prejudice, nor have they even tried, and in the absence of a showing of actual prejudice, the error is not "manifest" and is therefore not reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3). *See McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 334.

### **c.** The discovery of the stick

In general, warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 70, 917 P.2d 563 (1996) (quoting *State v. Houser*, 95 Wn.2d 143, 149, 622 P.2d 1218 (1980)). However, warrantless searches and seizures may be permitted within the confines of "a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions" to the warrant requirement. *State v. Evans*, 159 Wn.2d 402, 407, 150 P.3d 105 (2007) (quoting *State v. Chrisman*, 100 Wn.2d 814, 817, 676 P.2d 419 (1984)). The burden is on the State to prove the presence of such an exception. *Id.* (quoting *Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d at 72, 917 P.2d 563).

The community caretaking function is one such exception to the warrant requirement and arises when police are serving in their role as

community caretakers. *State v. Kinzy*, 141 Wn.2d 373, 394, 5 P.3d 668 (2000). This exception, which is divorced from a criminal investigation, recognizes that "local police have multiple responsibilities, only one of which is the enforcement of criminal law." *State v. Acrey*, 148 Wn.2d 738, 748, 64 P.3d 594 (2003) (quoting *State v. Acrey*, 110 Wn.App. 769, 773, 45 P.3d 553 (2002)).

Under the community caretaking exception, a warrantless search may be permissible when necessary for the purpose of rendering aid or performing routine checks on health and safety. State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 802, 92 P.3d 228 (2004). In Kinzy, the Supreme Court said observed that the community caretaking exception encompasses situations involving either emergency aid or routine checks on health and safety. Kinzy at 386. The court noted that "compared with routine checks on health and safety, the emergency aid function involves circumstances of greater urgency and searches resulting in greater intrusion." Kinzy at 386. "[T]he emergency doctrine does not involve officers investigating a crime but arises from a police officer's community caretaking responsibility to come to the aid of persons believed to be in danger of death or physical harm." State v. Leupp, 96 Wn.App. 324, 330, 980 P.2d 765 (1999). "For example, when premises contain persons in imminent danger of death or harm; objects likely to burn, explode or otherwise cause harm; or

information that will disclose the location of a threatened victim or the existence of such a threat, police may search those premises without first obtaining a warrant." *State v. Lynd*, 54 Wn.App. 18, 20, 771 P.2d 770 (1989).

In determining whether an officer's encounter for the purpose of performing a routine check on health and safety is reasonable, the court must balance "the individual's interest in freedom from police interference against the public's interest in having the police perform a 'community caretaking function.'" *Kalmas v. Wagner*, 133 Wn.2d 210, 216–17, 943 P.2d 1369 (1997). As such, whether an encounter made for noncriminal, noninvestigatory purposes is reasonable does not depend on the presence of probable cause or reasonable suspicion. *State v. Chisholm*, 39 Wn.App. 864, 866–67, 696 P.2d 41 (1985). Rather, the court balances the competing interests involved, in light of all the surrounding facts and circumstances. *Id.* at 867.

The defendants do not assign error to any of the trial court's very clear and detailed findings of fact, which the State has reprinted in full in the Statement of the Case, above. As such, they are verities in this appeal. "The rule in Washington is that challenged findings entered after a suppression hearing that are supported by substantial evidence are binding,

and, where the findings are unchallenged, they are verities on appeal." State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 571, 62 P.3d 489 (2003).

Here, the trial court made the unchallenged finding that Officers

Aldridge and Jensen of the Vancouver Police Department went to the

Weller home in response to a complaint of child abuse and to comply with
their statutory<sup>2</sup> duty to determine whether the children needed to be taken
into protective custody. The trial court, without objection of the parties,
referred to community caretaking and noted it was the same as the health
and safety emergency exception to the warrant requirement. The court
further found that when Officer Aldridge initiated her investigation into
the imminent danger the children might be in, she at all times considered it
to be an issue of protective custody due to neglect or abuse, and not a
criminal investigation. The trial court made the unchallenged finding that
no suggestion had been made that the Vancouver Police Department went

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 26.44.050 provides:

Except as provided in RCW 26.44.030(11), upon the receipt of a report concerning the possible occurrence of abuse or neglect, the law enforcement agency or the department of social and health services must investigate and provide the protective services section with a report in accordance with chapter 74.13 RCW, and where necessary to refer such report to the court.

A law enforcement officer may take, or cause to be taken, a child into custody without a court order if there is probable cause to believe that the child is abused or neglected and that the child would be injured or could not be taken into custody if it were necessary to first obtain a court order pursuant to RCW 13.34.050. The law enforcement agency or the department of social and health services investigating such a report is hereby authorized to photograph such a child for the purpose of providing documentary evidence of the physical condition of the child.

into the home with a pretextual purpose, and that they were at all times engaged in the community caretaking function. The trial court made the unchallenged finding that the officers, while having been provided with information suggesting the children were in imminent danger, took care to begin the investigation with an open mind. The trial court made the unchallenged finding that while interviewing the children, the officers and the children ended up in the garage, and that the children, while scattered, were looking for the stick that they claimed was used in the child abuse. The trial court made the unchallenged finding that the officers observed the stick in the garage, and that they saw it within the first twenty to thirty minutes of their welfare investigation. The trial court made the unchallenged finding that at the time the officers observed the stick, they were still trying to assess the credibility of the children (which was relevant to whether the complaint was founded and the officers could be deemed to have probable cause to believe that the children were abused or neglected and that they would be injured if not removed from the home prior to obtaining a court order). The trial court made the unchallenged finding that the officers came into the home to investigate the welfare of the children, and that consent was not raised an issue. The trial court made the unchallenged finding of fact that the officers had authority to be there, and that the scope of their interviews was appropriately tailored to their

purpose in being there. These findings are unchallenged and the defendants do not argue that they are not supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Additionally, pursuant to this Court's independent review of the record, the record demonstrates that Officer Aldridge went into this investigation with the (correct) belief that the determination of whether the children in the Weller home were in imminent risk was hers, not CPS's. RP 146. Despite having obtained information that would support a reasonable belief that children inside the Weller home were in imminent risk of danger (the note indicating physical abuse by beating with a stick), Officer Aldridge nevertheless appreciated that it was her duty to make an independent determination whether there was probable cause to remove children from their parents' home. RP 145-46, 149. Officer Aldridge expressed sensitivity to the parental rights of the Wellers, noting that an unsupported removal of children from a home would violate parental rights. Officer Aldridge testified that the purpose of her visit was to determine whether there was an imminent risk to the children and make sure they were safe from harm. RP 146. Aldridge testified that her purpose was not to conduct a criminal investigation, and she had no plan to search the residence. RP 147-48. Aldridge testified that the vast majority of these cases she has assisted CPS with do not turn into criminal cases. RP 148.

Aldridge testified that she wanted to talk to C.G. privately, away from the parents and the other children, and there was nowhere downstairs in the house where they could not have been overheard. RP 158. When she initially entered she could not speak to C.G. without Sandra hearing. RP 155-56. That was how they ended up in the garage on both occasions. While in the garage trying to speak to C.W. and C.G., the children were both scattered and could not focus. RP 167. C.G. alternated between dealing with the animals in the garage to looking around both outside and inside the garage, randomly stating "it's not here." RP 167. At that particular point, the officers had still not determined whether the children's allegation of abuse was founded, or whether they were credible. RP 168. In other words, they had not determined if they would be removed from the room. RP 168. Aldridge candidly observed that teenagers lie more than younger kids, and she did not know if these were simply children who are mad at their parents for not getting a car for their birthday. RP 168. Aldridge testified that a thorough investigation is needed before children can be removed. RP 168. Officers Jensen and Aldridge were just standing there, trying to get the kids focused and talking to them. RP 170. Aldridge was "frustrated" and "at a loss." RP 170. As the kids are roaming and searching, Officer Aldridge saw a stick and said "Is that it?" RP 170. C.G. confirmed that it was. RP 170-71.

Officer Aldridge testified that she did not direct the kids to look for the stick. RP 170.

The trial court concluded as a matter of law that the officers were lawfully in the place where they observed the stick because they were still conducting an investigation into whether the children were in imminent risk of danger. Part of that determination is an assessment of whether the children's claims were credible. They were in the process of questioning the children while the children were looking for the stick. The trial court concluded as a matter of law that the stick was in plain view. That is, she found that the officers observed the stick while they were in an area in which they had the present right to be, and the stick was identified as relevant to the claim of abuse (that is, readily observable as contraband prior to its retrieval). The trial court concluded as a matter of law that the retrieval of the stick was therefore lawful.

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